
 C  I  T  Y   O  F 

MILACA Minnesota
255 First Street East, Milaca, MN 56353 (320)983-3141 | (320)983-3142 fax 

 

 

CITY OF MILACA 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

OCTOBER 6, 2025 
6:00 P.M. 

255 1ST ST E, CITY HALL COUNCIL ROOM 
 

1. Call to Order Regular Planning Commission Meeting Time_________ 
 

2. Roll Call 
 
______ Brett Freese  ______Lainy Hoskins     _____Jake Lepper    _____Joel Millam     _____Mitch Siemers    

______Brad Tolzman      ________Alex Veurink   

 

3. Approve minutes from August 18, 2025     MB_____2nd_____AIF____O____ 
 

4. Open Public Hearings:  Time____________ (Discussion from Planning Commission members conducted under 
New Business) 
a. Variance Request from Milaca Park    MB_____2nd_____AIF____O____ 

b. Minor Lot Split from Milaca Park     MB_____2nd_____AIF____O____ 

c. Variance Request from Mille Lacs Vet Holdings, LLC  MB_____2nd_____AIF____O____ 

 Closed Public Hearings:  Time_____________ 
 

5.   Old Business 
        
6.   New Business 

a. Variance Request from Milaca Park     MB_____2nd_____AIF____O____ 

b. Minor Lot Split from Milaca Park     MB_____2nd_____AIF____O____ 

c. Variance Request from Mille Lacs Vet Holdings, LLC  MB_____2nd_____AIF____O____ 

 
7.   Miscellaneous 
 a.   

 
8.   Adjourn Time____________      MB_____2nd_____AIF____O____ 

1



CITY OF MILACA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 
August 18, 2025 

6:00 P.M. 

1. OPEN PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING: Brad Tolzman –Chairman, called meeting to order
@ 6:00 p.m.

2. MEMBERS PRESENT: Roll Call:
a. Brett Freese, Lainy Hoskins, Joel Millam, Mitch Siemers, Brad Tolzman
ABSENT Jake Lepper
b. Others Present: City Manager Tammy Pfaff, Assistant City Clerk Deloris Katke, Council Liaison
Norris Johnson.

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM July 14, 2025:
Chairman Tolzman called for a motion to approve the minutes from July 14, 2025.
Motion to approve minutes from July 14, 2025, made by Lainy Hoskins, seconded by Mitch
Siemers. No further discussion. All in favor.
Motion passes.

4. PUBLIC HEARINGS: Opened at 6:01
a. Cannabis Business and Cultivation Ordinance Regulations
b. Amend Ordinance #156.056(F)(7) to Allow Front Porches
-No public comment on either topic.

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS: Closed at 6:02

6. NEW BUSINESS:
a. Cannabis Business and Cultivation Ordinance Regulations

A motion was made by PC Member Millam, seconded by PC Member Freese to
recommend approval of the Ordinance Regulation to the City Council.
No further discussion. All in favor.  Motion passes.

b. Amend Ordinance #156.056(F)(7) to Allow Front Porches
A motion was made by PC Member Siemers, seconded by PC Member Hoskins to
recommend approval to the City Council of an amendment to Ordinance #156.056(f)(7),
reading: “Front porches and landings are allowed as long as the structure is within the
setbacks of that zoning district.”
No further discussion. All in favor.  Motion passes.

7. MISCELLANEOUS:
a. Interview Questions/ Answers from Planning Commission Candidate Alex Veurink

Following discussion, A motion was made by PC Member Siemers, seconded by PC
Member Freese to approve Alex Veurink for Planning Commission vacancy.
No further discussion. All in favor.  Motion passes.

22



8. ADJOURN:

PC Chairman Tolzman called for a motion to adjourn. PC Member Milliam made the 
motion to adjourn. PC Member Hoskins seconded the motion. No further discussion. All 
In favor.  
Motion passes. 
Meeting adjourned at 6:18 p.m. 

33



44



55



255 First Street East, Milaca, MN 56353 (320)983-3141 I (320)983-3142 fax

MINOR LOT SPLIT/COMBINATION APPLICATION 

OWNER 

PROPERTY 

OWNER 
NAME 

• OWNER
1 AOORESS 
I 

,.. 

t.<.< 

Sli\TF. 7.IP com: 

CURRENT ZONING ... -·. ··--··· __________ _ I.OT ARF.A_ f. '/;l tl</'t.5

APPLICANT INCLUDES: 

• COMPLETED SURVEY BY CERTIFIED SURVEYOR
• NONREFUNDABI E m OF $300 PLUS $500 ESCROW

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

• ALL RESIDENTIAL LOTS MUST BE 10,000 SQUARE FEET

• 80 FOOT MINIMUM WIDTH FOR LOTS BEING CREATED
• ALL LOTS MUST HAVE STREET FRONTAGE

•c1rv Will CONTACT YOU WHEN EXEMPTION CERTIFICATE IS COMPLETE

DATE RECEIVED

J:\Sherc\formsV.onlng\MINO� LOT SPI.IT-COMOINAIION APPLICAJION.d00tJ:\Sharo\FormsV.or:lng\MINOR I OT SPl rr-COMB!Nl\llON Al'PI ICl\llON.docx. 

www.cltyofmilaca.org 

66



Exemption Cerllflcate 

NAME OF BUYER: .(� �1;,, t!l-1

ADDRESSOFOWNER: "{/.() ,ilt<t{ .s'T Al£ 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF EXISTING PARCEL(S) (ATTACH SURVEY): 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF NEW PARCEL SPLIT OR COMBINED LDT(S) (ATTACH SURVEY): 

SECTON_�_:f_ TOWNSHIP 43� RANGE.�7. 

SURVEYOR'S NAME. ,f �w, A'(le,,. ( �e,_-l-_/4 1!1.�1t_-t!_fJ __ _

OWNER'S SIGNATURE � 

SURVEY OF PARCELS REQUIRED 

I have reviewed the above lot split/combination request and find that: 

The proposal meets all applicable requirements of the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances and may be recorded without 
an additional review by the Planning Commission or City Council. 

By:. 
..... ·�-

Date: 

lonlng Administrator 

Original to be recorded with deed within six (6) months ol the date approved. Failure to record within the six (6) month 
time period will make this E,emption Cerlificate null and void. 

J:\Sharclf'orms\Zooing\',tNOH I.OT SPUT..COMIJl�IION I\PPI.ICATION.Co(;)l:J:\Sharc\l:ormsV:or1ing\MINOF1 I OT Sl>LI l"-COMBINAIICN APPIJCAllON.doc11 

www.cityofmilaca.org 

77



T
h

e
se

 d
a

ta
 a

re
 p

ro
vi

d
e

d
 o

n
 

a
n

 "
A

S
-I

S
" 

b
a

si
s,

 w
ith

o
u

t 
w

a
rr

a
n

ty
 o

f 
a

n
y 

ty
p

e
, 

e
xp

re
ss

e
d 

o
r 

im
p

lie
d

, 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 

b
u

t 
n

o
t 

lim
ite

d
 t

o
 a

n
y 

w
a

rr
a

n
ty

 
a

s 
to

 t
h

e
ir 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
ce

, 
m

e
rc

h
a

n
ta

b
ili

ty
, o

r 
fi

tn
e

ss
 fo

r 
D

a
te

: 
5

/1
4

/2
0

2
4

 
a

n
y 

p
a

rt
ic

u
la

r 
p

u
rp

o
se

. 
�

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
---

T-h
is

_m
_a

_p
_ is
_n

_o
_ta

_s
_u

_bs-: ti
tu-t

-e-:-
fo-r

-a
c_ cu

_ ra
_te

- fi::-,e
.,- ld

c-s
-u

iv
_e

_
vs
_

or
-:- fo'-

r'C" lo-c
a"" ti

_ llQ
_a

_c
t,...ua

-:-
I

- P
ro

_p
_e"" rtv

-
l::- in-e

s
_a

_n
-:-d

-a
n_v

_a
-::di

-a
c-e

n...,.
t

7
fe-,-

a
t,...ur

_e
_s.-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
--,

 

88



To: Milaca Planning Commission 

 

From: Evan Monson, AICP 

 

Project/File: 193800515 Date: September 22, 2025 

 

REQUEST: Minor Subdivision/Lot Split and Side Setback Variance request for 410 2nd Street NE 

APPLICANT: Randy Reiman, Josh Winter 

OWNER: Milaca Park, LLC 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 410/500 2nd Street Northeast; Parcel ID 21-025-0500 

ZONING CLASSIFICATION: I-1 Light Industrial District, B-4 Mobile Home, & C-1 Conservation 

REVIEW PERIOD: 60-day review period ends 10/24/2025, 120-day review period ends 12/23/2025. 

ITEMS REVIEWED: Application and materials received on 8/25/2025. 

OVERVIEW 

Milaca Park, LLC owns the property that is occupied by the Mobile Manor mobile home park, two industrial 
buildings, an open storage area, and the large wetland area behind it. Randy Reiman owns the larger 
industrial building on the west side of the property and wants to separate it from the mobile home park 
property. The Reiman family previously owned the mobile home park but sold it a few years ago; they now 
want to separate their industrial building and part of the property from the mobile home park property and 
buildings. To accomplish this, they are requesting a lot split to divide off a lot “Parcel A” on the west side of 
the property, while the rest of the property “Parcel B” will remain as the mobile home park and most of the 
wetland. 

A new lot line will separate the two existing buildings that are currently approximately ten (10) feet apart, 
which would place each building approximately five (5) feet from the proposed lot line. The required side 
setback is ten (10) feet; since this cannot be met a side setback variance is requested for side setbacks of 
five (5) feet on each side. The subdivision and variance requests are illustrated in Figures 2 and 3. 

Variances from zoning requirements are covered in Sections 156.165 – 156.170 of the city code. Section 
156.168 requires review of variances by the city’s Planning Commission. The City Council can then 
approve or deny a variance request. 

Minor Subdivisions are covered under Section 155.126 of the city code. These requests can go directly to 
the City Council, or can be reviewed by the Planning Commission and approved or denied by the council.  

99



PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Parcel Description: 410 2nd Street NE is 36.47 acres in size per Mille Lacs County records. The west end 
of the site has access from 2nd Street NE, while the east end of the site has access to 1st Street East / 
County State Aid Highway (CSAH) 37. The middle of the site has access to 6th Avenue NE. The south and 
east portion of the site is a mobile/manufactured home park, while the west end consists of some industrial 
buildings and outdoor storage. Most of the northern half of the site is a wetland.  

 

Figure 1: County GIS aerial image of 410 2nd Street NE. Parcel lines are in red; the subject parcel is outlined in orange. 

Current Land Uses: Mobile/manufactured home park, light industrial and outdoor storage, open 
space/wetlands. 

  

1010



 

Figure 2: Illustration of proposed request, with proposed lot lines in white and existing zoning designations also shown. 

 

Figure 3: Illustration of Parcel A (right), with excerpt zoomed in on the proposed lot line of Parcel A (left). 

1111



EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST 

Subdivision Code 
The request will create two lots. The city code says that the resulting parcels cannot be in violation of 
Chapter 156, the Zoning Code. The variances to the side setbacks for the two buildings will have to be 
approved to approve the subdivision request. 
 
Site Access 
The Reiman building currently has access to the rear to the property only via 2nd Street NE and past the 
mobile home park buildings, illustrated with the yellow arrow and easement in Figure 4. There is not enough 
space on either side of the Reiman building to get to the rear of the property within the proposed Parcel A. 
The certificate of survey for the minor subdivision shows a 30-ft-wide ingress, egress and utility easement 
connecting Parcel A across Parcel B along 2nd Street NE and the mobile home park driveway to the rear of 
Parcel A. 
 

 

Figure 4: Proposed access for Parcel A via an ‘ingress, egress, and utility easement’ that would run through portions of 
Parcel B. 

Variance 
The Milaca Zoning Code, in Sections 156.166 and 156.167, details findings of fact and conditions for 
granting variances. These standards closely follow State statute requirements. The city’s code 
requirements are listed on the following pages in italics, with staff findings and comments following. 
 
Variance Findings, per Section 156.166 
In considering all requests for a variance or appeal, the Board of Adjustments and Appeals shall make a 
finding of fact as appropriate that the proposed action will not: 

(A)   Impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent property; 
    (B)   Unreasonably increase the congestion in the public right-of-way; 
    (C)   Increase the danger of fire or endanger the public safety; 
    (D)   Unreasonably diminish or impair established property values within the neighborhood; 

1212



    (E)   Cause an unreasonable strain upon existing municipal facilities and services; 
    (F)   Be contrary in any way to the provisions and intent of the city’s growth management 
system/Comprehensive Plan; or 
    (G)   Have a negative direct and indirect fiscal impact upon the city, county, or school district, 
unless the proposed use is determined to be in the public interest. 
 
The proposed variance will not be noticeable to adjacent properties – it is only allowing a new property line 
to be placed between two existing buildings; nothing new is being built with this subdivision and variance 
request. The variance will not negatively impact any of the above standards; therefore these criteria are 
met. 
 
Variance Conditions, per Section 156.167: 
 (A) (1)   The City Council, after receiving recommendations from the Planning Commission, may not permit 
as a variance any use that is not permitted under this chapter for property in the zone where the affected 
person’s land is located. 

 
The requested setback variance does not change the uses of the applicant’s properties, which are 
permitted. This criterion is met. 

 
      (2)   A variance may be granted when it is demonstrated that this action will be in keeping with the spirit 
and intent of this chapter and when the property in question cannot be put to a reasonable use if used 
under conditions allowed by the official controls, the plight of the landowner is due to circumstances unique 
to his or her property and not created by the landowner, and the variance, if granted, will not alter the 
essential character of the locality. 
 
This criterion is met. The request to separate buildings onto different parcels is a “reasonable use” of the 
property. The location of the buildings being 10 feet apart is a pre-existing condition unique to this property 
and not caused by the applicant. It is impossible to meet the setback standard in the ordinance without 
removing the existing structures. The proposed lot lines will not alter the essential character of the locality – 
there is no visible change in the buildings or uses. 
 
(B)   Economic considerations alone shall not constitute an undue hardship if reasonable use for the 
property exists under the terms of the chapter. Undue hardship also includes, but is not limited to, 
inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. A non-economic hardship shall exist by 
reason of one or more of the following: 
      (1)   Narrowness, shallowness, or shape of a specific parcel of property or a lot existing and of record 
upon the effective date of this chapter; 
      (2)   Exceptional topographic or water conditions of a specific parcel of land or lot; or 
      (3)   Inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. 
 
These criteria are met. The economic issue usually means that the applicant could meet the code by 
spending more money, which is not the case in this situation. [Note: the term “undue hardship” is from 
previous State statute before 2011 and has been replaced by the term “practical difficulties” in current 
statute on variances.] 

 

1313



(C)   A variance may be granted for the above reasons when the strict application of the provisions of this 
chapter would result in exceptional difficulties in developing the property in a legally permissible manner. 
The City Council may impose conditions in granting the variance to insure [sic] compliance and to protect 
adjacent properties. 
 
This criterion is met. The two buildings in question are existing; there would be “exceptional difficulties” in 
separating the buildings by 20 feet to meet the setback standard. Separating the buildings into different lots 
is legally permissible. The development of the property will remain as it is with this subdivision and 
variance.  
 
(D)   A variance shall not allow any use which is not a permitted principal use, a permitted accessory use, or 
a permitted use requiring a conditional use permit. The only lawful variance is one which is usually called a 
“non-use variance,” and the use of the variance procedure does not authorize any kind of unlawful “spot 
zoning.” 
 
This is not a case of ‘spot zoning’ or a ‘use variance.’ The request meets this criterion. 

STAFF / AGENCY COMMENTS 

• Mille Lacs County 

o The County Zoning Administrator had no issues with the proposed requests. 

o The County Engineer had not provided comments at the time of writing this report. 

o Mille Lacs Soil & Water Conservation District noted that a delineation of the wetland on the 
property should be performed prior to any new development. 

• City Staff  

o Engineering: The city engineer had no comments or issues with these requests. 

ACTION 

The Planning Commission can do one of the following for each request: 

1. Recommend the City Council approve, with findings for approval and with/without conditions. 
2. Recommend the City Council deny, with findings for denial. 
3. Table the request for further review and/or study. 

a. If tabling the request for the variance, the city shall extend their review period an additional 
60 days, for a total review period of 120 days. Subdivisions have a review period of 120 
days. 

  

1414



RECOMMENDATION: 

Variance 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend approval of the side setback variance for 
Randy Reiman and Milaca Park LLC as depicted on the Certificate of Survey from Rum River Land 
Surveyors + Engineers dated 2/12/2024, with the following findings of fact: 

1. Milaca Park LLC owns the property at 410 2nd Street NE identified and described on the Certificate 
of Survey from Rum River Land Surveyors + Engineers dated 2/12/2024.  

 
2. Randy Reiman owns the existing building on the west side of that property. Milaca Park LLC owns 

the existing building immediately east of the Reiman building. The buildings are between 10.2 feet 
and 10.4 feet apart. 

 
3. The area where the above noted buildings are located is zoned I-1 Light Industrial. The required 

side setback for structures in the I-1 district in the Milaca Zoning Code is ten feet. 
 

4. The applicants have requested a side setback variance to allow a setback of 5.1 to 5.2 feet from 
each building to the new common side lot line in the proposed minor subdivision. 

 
5. The Milaca Zoning Code, in Section 156.166, has findings to be considered in variance requests. 

The requested variance will not negatively impact any of the findings.  
 

6. The Milaca Zoning Code, in Section 156.166, has conditions to be considered in variance requests. 
The requested variance satisfies these conditions as follows: 

a. The current uses of the property and buildings involved are permitted under the Milaca 
Zoning Code. 

b. The requested minor subdivision is a reasonable use of the property. 
c. The location of the buildings being ten feet apart is a pre-existing condition unique to this 

property not caused by the applicant making it impossible to meet the setback standard in 
the ordinance.  

d. The proposed lot lines will not alter the essential character of the locality – there is no 
visible change in the buildings or uses. 

e. Economic considerations are not at issue with this variance request. 
f. The two buildings in question are existing; there would be “exceptional difficulties” in 

separating the buildings by 20 feet to meet the setback standard.  
g. Separating the buildings into separate lots is legally permissible. The development of the 

property will remain as it is with this subdivision and variance.  
h. The existing uses are allowed and do not involve spot zoning.  

 
7. The requested variance satisfies the findings and the conditions for approving a variance in the 

Milaca Zoning Code. 
 
Staff would also recommend the following conditions of approval: 
 

1. The applicant shall split the lot, in accordance with the certificate of survey dated 2/12/2024 and 
submitted to the city for review with this request. 

a. The setback from the proposed side lot line for the existing buildings located on proposed 
parcels A and B shall adhere to the setbacks as shown on the certificate of survey dated 
2/12/2024 and submitted to the city for review with this request. 

2. The applicant shall acquire all applicable permits and approvals for this request. 

1515



3. The applicant shall pay any fees or escrows associated with this request. 
 
Minor Subdivision 
 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission recommend approval of the minor subdivision for Milaca Park 
LLC as depicted on the Certificate of Survey from Rum River Land Surveyors + Engineers dated 2/12/2024, 
with the following findings of fact: 
 

1. Milaca Park LLC owns the property at 410 2nd Street NE identified and described on the 
Certificate of Survey from Rum River Land Surveyors + Engineers dated 2/12/2024. 

 
2. The owner has proposed a minor subdivision depicted on the above noted survey that creates 

a Parcel A 4.92 acres in size and a Parcel B 31.00 acres in size. 
 

3. The proposed subdivision as submitted meets the criteria for approving a minor subdivision in 
the Milaca City Code, provided the side setback variance is also approved. 

 
Conditions for Approval 
 

1. The applicants will prepare and record an easement between the two parcels in the subdivision 
allowing access for Parcel A from 2nd Street NE through the Mobile Manor Parcel B to the rear of 
Parcel A, consistent with the easement as shown in the certificate of survey dated 2/12/2024 and 
submitted to the city for review with this request. 

 
2. The minor subdivision is approved only if the accompanying side setback variance is also 

approved. 
 

3. The applicant shall acquire all applicable permits and approvals for this request. 
 

4. The applicant shall pay any fees or escrows associated with this request. 
 
 

1616



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 25-XX 
 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIDE VARIANCE FOR A 5.1 to 5.2 FOOT SETBACK  
 

 
 
WHEREAS, Milaca Park is requesting a variance for a 5.1 to 5.2 foot side setback between 
structures rather than a 10 foot setback that is required by City Ordinance per 156.042 located at 
410 - 420 2nd St NE , legally described as; 

 
    See Exhibit “A” 
 
WHEREAS, City Ordinance 156.167 Variances states: The basic standard is that there are 
“practical difficulties” in meeting the ordinance and; 
 
The proposed use of the property is reasonable. i.e., it is an acceptable use of the property and 
not something out of the ordinary that might impact surrounding properties.  
 
There are circumstances unique to the property not created by the applicant. i.e., something in 
the property itself and not in the proposed action.  
 
The variance would not alter the essential character of the locality, i.e., it wouldn’t be 
dramatically out of place in terms of size, height, appearance, etc.  
 
Economic considerations alone are not justification for a variance, i.e., could the applicant spend 
more money and meet the code.  
 
A reasonable reading of these standards would conclude that the current request meets them all. 
The variance is justified. 
 
WHEREAS, the Milaca Planning Commission held a public meeting on October 6, 2025, to 
allow for public input regarding the variance request; and 
 
WHEREAS, on the basis of the public hearing, the Planning Commission hereby makes the 
following findings of fact: 
 

1717



 
1. Milaca Park LLC owns the property at 410 2nd Street NE identified and described on the 

Certificate of Survey from Rum River Land Surveyors + Engineers dated 2/12/2024.  
 

2. Randy Reiman owns the existing building on the west side of that property. Milaca Park 
LLC owns the existing building immediately east of the Reiman building. The buildings 
are between 10.2 feet and 10.4 feet apart. 

 
3. The area where the above noted buildings are located is zoned I-1 Light Industrial. The 

required side setback for structures in the I-1 district in the Milaca Zoning Code is ten 
feet. 

 
4. The applicants have requested a side setback variance to allow a setback of 5.1 to 5.2 feet 

from each building to the new common side lot line in the proposed minor subdivision. 
 

5. The Milaca Zoning Code, in Section 156.166, has findings to be considered in variance 
requests. The requested variance will not negatively impact any of the findings.  

 
6. The Milaca Zoning Code, in Section 156.166, has conditions to be considered in variance 

requests. The requested variance satisfies these conditions as follows: 
a. The current uses of the property and buildings involved are permitted under the 

Milaca Zoning Code. 
b. The requested minor subdivision is a reasonable use of the property. 
c. The location of the buildings being ten feet apart is a pre-existing condition 

unique to this property not caused by the applicant making it impossible to meet 
the setback standard in the ordinance.  

d. The proposed lot lines will not alter the essential character of the locality – there 
is no visible change in the buildings or uses. 

e. Economic considerations are not at issue with this variance request. 
f. The two buildings in question are existing; there would be “exceptional 

difficulties” in separating the buildings by 20 feet to meet the setback standard.  
g. Separating the buildings into separate lots is legally permissible. The development 

of the property will remain as it is with this subdivision and variance.  
h. The existing uses are allowed and do not involve spot zoning.  

 
7. The requested variance satisfies the findings and the conditions for approving a variance 

in the Milaca Zoning Code. 
 

 
CONDITIONS FOR APPROVAL: 
 

1. The applicant shall split the lot, in accordance with the certificate of survey dated 
2/12/2024 and submitted to the city for review with this request. 
 
 

1818



 
a. The setback from the proposed side lot line for the existing buildings located on 

proposed parcels A and B shall adhere to the setbacks as shown on the certificate 
of survey dated 2/12/2024 and submitted to the city for review with this request. 

2. The applicant shall acquire all applicable permits and approvals for this request. 
3. Minor Lot Split is also approved 
4. The applicant shall pay any fees or escrows associated with this request 

 
WHEREAS, The Planning Commission recommends that the City Council approve the variance 
request as submitted, with the Findings of Fact in the Planner’s report of 09-22-25. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Milaca City Council, based on the above-
findings of fact, hereby grants the variance to allow a side setback to be less than the required 10 
feet located at 410 2nd St NE/420 2nd St NE.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted this _______ day of ______________, 2025. 
 
 
 
      _________________________________ 
      Mayor Dave Dillan 
ATTEST 
 
 
 
__________________________________  
Tammy Pfaff, City Manager 
 
 

THIS INSTRUMENT DRAFTED BY TAMMY PFAFF, 
CITY OF MILACA CITY MANAGER, 255 1ST ST E, 
MILACA MN 56353. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1919



 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PARCEL SPLIT:  

 
 
PARCEL A DESCRIPTION: ( 4.92 Acres) 
  
That part of Section 25, Township 38, Range 27, Mille Lacs County, Minnesota, described as 
follows: 
  
  
Commencing at the point of intersection of the North-South Quarter line of said Section 25 with 
the North right of way line of the former Burlington Northern Railway, now being the North line 
of Block 5, CENTENNIAL ADDITION TO MILACA, said Mille Lacs County, Minnesota; 
thence South 79 degrees 56 minutes 19 seconds West, assumed bearing along said North right of 
way line of the former Burlington Northern Railway, a distance of 20.00 feet to the point of 
beginning of the land to be described; thence North 79 degrees 56 minutes 19 seconds East, 
along said North right of way line of the former Burlington Northern Railway, a distance of 
90.19 feet; thence North 08 degrees 58 minutes 12 seconds West, a distance of 220.50 feet; 
thence North 81 degrees 01 minutes 48 seconds East, a distance of 50.00 feet; thence South 50 
degrees 40 minutes 54 seconds East, a distance of 50.00 feet; thence North 81 degrees 01 
minutes 48 seconds East, a distance of 131.45 feet; thence North 02 degrees 13 minutes 31 
seconds East, a distance of 60.00 feet; thence South 87 degrees 31 minutes 41 seconds East, a 
distance of 41.50 feet; thence North 02 degrees 28 minutes 19 seconds East, a distance of 30.00 
feet; thence South 87 degrees 31 minutes 41 seconds East, a distance of 35.00 feet; thence North 
23 degrees 31 minutes 31 seconds East, a distance of 290.91 feet; thence North 00 degrees 37 
minutes 08 seconds East, a distance of 164.41 feet; thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 26 
seconds West, a distance of 339.50 feet; thence South 46 degrees 23 minutes 45 seconds West, a 
distance of 156.63 feet to the intersection with said North-South Quarter line; thence South 00 
degrees 12 minutes 34 seconds West, along said North-South Quarter line to the intersection 
with the North line of the tract described in Document Number 214258; thence South 79 degrees 
56 minutes 19 seconds West, along said North line of the tract described in Document Number 
214258, a distance of 20.01 feet to the intersection with a line drawn parallel with the East line of 
said Section 25 extended North from the point of beginning; thence South 00 degrees 12 minutes 
41 seconds East, parallel with said East fine of Section 25, a distance of 284.70 feet to the point 
of beginning. 
 
Subject to an ingress, egress, and utility easement over, under, and across the South 66.00 feet of 
the above-described property. 
 

2020



 
 
INGRESS EGRESS & UTILITY EASEMENT DESCRIPTION: 
 
A 30.00-foot-wide permanent easement for ingress, egress, and utility purposes over, under, and 
across the Southwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter, the North Half of the Southeast Quarter, 
and the West Half, all being in Section 25, Township 38, Range 27, Mille Lacs County, 
Minnesota, the centerline of said 30.00-foot-wide easement is described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the point of Intersection of the North-South Quarter line of said Section 25 with 
the North right of way line of the former Burlington Northern Railway, now being the North line 
of Block 5, CENTENNIAL ADDITION TO MILACA, said Mille Lacs County, Minnesota; 
thence South 79 degrees 56 minutes 19 seconds West, assumed bearing along said North right of 
way line of the former Burlington Northern Railway, a distance of 20.00 feet; thence North 79 
degrees 56 minutes 19 seconds East, along said North right of way line of the former Burlington 
Northern Railway, a distance of 90.19 feet; thence North 08 degrees 58 minutes 12 seconds 
West, a distance of 32.42 feet to the point of beginning of the centerline to be described; thence 
North 78 degrees 37 minutes 42 seconds East, a distance of 185.98 feet; thence North 03 degrees 
24 minutes 44 seconds West, a distance of 143.63 feet to the intersection with the following 
described "Line A": 
 
Commencing at the point of intersection of the North-South Quarter line of said Section 25 with 
the North right of way line of the former Burlington Northern Railway, now being the North line 
of Block 5, CENTENNIAL ADDITION TO MILACA, said Mille Lacs County, Minnesota; 
thence South 79 degrees 56 minutes 19 seconds West, assumed bearing along said North right of 
way line of the former Burlington Northern Railway, a distance of 20.00 feet; thence North 79 
degrees 56 minutes 19 seconds East, along said North right of way line of the former Burlington 
Northern Railway, a distance of 90.19 feet; thence North 08 degrees 58 minutes 12 seconds 
West, a distance of 220.50 feet; thence North 81 degrees 01 minutes 48 seconds East, a distance 
of 50.00 feet; thence South 50 degrees 40 minutes 54 seconds East, a distance of 50.00 feet to the 
point of beginning of said "Line A"; thence North 81 degrees 01 minutes 48 seconds East, a 
distance of 131.45 feet and said "Line A” there terminating. 
  
The sidelines of said 30.00-foot-wide permanent easement are to be prolonged or shortened to 
terminate on a line which , bears North 08 degrees 58 minutes 12 seconds West and passes 
through said point of beginning and said "Line A". 
 
 
PARCEL B DESCRIPTION: (31.00 Acres) 
 
That part of the North Half of the Southeast Quarter and that part of the Southeast Quarter of the 
Northeast Quarter, all in Section 25, Township 38, Range 27, Mille Lacs County, Minnesota, 
described as follows: Beginning at the point of intersection of the northerly extension of the 
Easterly line of that certain tract of land described in Book 64 of Mortgages, page 277 with the 
Northerly right of way line of First Street Southeast; thence northerly along said northerly  
 

2121



 
extension a distance of 90.38 feet; thence westerly and parallel with the Southerly right of way 
line of the former Burlington Northern Railroad Company a distance of 402.28 feet, more or less  
 
to the point of intersection with the East line of said Lot 15, Block 5, Centennial Addition to 
Milaca; thence northerly along said East line distance of 45.69 feet, more or less to the Northerly 
right of way line of said former Burlington Northern Railroad Company; thence easterly along 
said Northerly right of way line to the point of intersection with the Westerly  right of way line 
of Minnesota Department of Transportation Right of Way Plat No. 48-11, Mille Lacs County, 
Minnesota; thence southerly and westerly along said right  of way line and westerly and 
southerly along the Northerly right of way line of State Trunk Highway No. 23 as monumented 
per Minnesota Department of Transportation Right of Way Plat No. 48-28, Mille Lacs County, 
Minnesota, to the point of intersection with  
 
said Northerly right of way line of First Street Southeast; thence· northerly and westerly along 
said Northerly right of way line of First Street Southeast to said point of beginning. Excepting 
that part of the Southeast Quarter of the Northeast Quarter together with that part of the 
Northeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter, all within Section 25, Township 38, Range 27, Mille 
Lacs County, Minnesota, described as follows: Beginning at the point of intersection of the 
Westerly right of way line of Minnesota Department of Transportation Right Way Plat No. 48-
25, Mille Lacs County, Minnesota, with a line parallel with and distant 237.00 feet northerly of 
the Northerly line of the former Burlington Northern, Inc. Railway, thence southerly and 
southwesterly along said Westerly right of way line to the point of intersection with the South 
line of said Southeast Quarter of the Northeast Quarter; thence southwesterly, southeasterly and 
southwesterly along the northerly right of way line of Minnesota Department of Transportation 
Right of Way Plat No. 48-28; Mille Lacs County, Minnesota, to the point of intersection with the 
Northerly right of way line of First Street Southeast; thence northwesterly along said Northerly 
right of way line of First Street Southeast a distance of 377.21 feet; thence northerly, deflecting 
to the right 98 degrees 37 minutes 50 seconds, a distance of 359.07 feet to the point of 
intersection with said line distant 237.00 feet northerly of and parallel with the Northerly right of 
way line of the former Burlington Northern, Inc. Railway; thence easterly along said parallel line 
a distance of 452.19 feet to said point of beginning. 
 
AND 
The South 48 rods of the Southwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter, Mille Lacs County, 
Minnesota, and all of the North Half of the Southeast Quarter lying North of the right of Way of 
the Great Northern Railway Company, excepting, and reserving a tract of land heretofore 
conveyed to Lars Olson by Deed recorded In Book 26 of Deeds, page 155, all In Section 25, 
Township 38, Range 27, Mille Lacs County, Minnesota 
 
AND 
All that part of the Southeast Quarter of the Northeast Quarter and that part of the Northeast 
Quarter of the Southeast Quarter, all in Section 25, Township 38, Range· 27, Mille Lacs County, 
Minnesota, described as follows: 
 
 

2222



 
Commencing at the point of intersection of the East line of said Southeast Quarter of the 
Northeast Quarter with the northerly right of way line of the former St. Paul, Minneapolis & 
Manitoba Railway; thence southwesterly along said northerly right of way line to the point of 
intersection with the westerly right of way line of Minnesota Department of Transportation Right  
 
of Way Plat No. 48-11, according to the recorded plat thereof, Mille Lacs County, Minnesota, 
and to the point of beginning of the property being described; thence continuing southwesterly 
along said northerly right of way line to a point distant 1320.00 feet southwesterly, as measured 
along said northerly right of way line, from said point of commencement; thence northerly 
parallel with the West line of said Northeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter to the North line of 
said Northeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter; thence westerly along said North line to the 
Southwest corner of said Southeast Quarter of the Northeast Quarter; thence northerly along the 
West line of said Southeast Quarter of the Northeast Quarter to the point of intersection with a 
line 237.00 feet northerly of and parallel to said northerly right of way line of the former St. 
Paul, Minneapolis & Manitoba Railway; thence northeasterly along said parallel line to the point 
of intersection with said  westerly right of way of Minnesota Department of Transportation Right 
of Way Plat No. 48-11; thence southerly along said westerly right of way line to said point of 
beginning. 
 
EXCEPT: 
That part of the Southeast Quarter of the Northeast Quarter together with that part of the 
Northeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter, all within Section 25, Township 38; Range 27, Mille 
Lacs County, Minnesota, described as follows; Beginning at the point of intersection of the 
Westerly right of way line of Minnesota Department of Transportation Right of Way Plat No. 
48-25, Mille Lacs County, Minnesota, with a line parallel with and distant 237.00 feet northerly 
of the Northerly line of the former Burlington Northern, Inc. Railway, thence southerly and 
southwesterly along said Westerly right of way line to the point of intersection with the South 
line of said Southeast Quarter of the Northeast Quarter; thence southwesterly, southeasterly and 
southwesterly along the northerly right of way line of Minnesota Department of Transportation 
Right of Way Plat No. 48-28, Mille Lacs County, Minnesota, to the point of intersection with the 
Northerly right of way line of First Street Southeast; thence northwesterly along said Northerly 
right of way line of First Street Southeast a distance of 377.21 feet; thence northerly, deflecting 
to the right 98 degrees, 37 minutes 50 seconds, a distance of 359.07 feet to the point of 
intersection with said line distant 237.00 feet northerly of and parallel with the Northerly right of 
way line of the formerly Burlington Northern, Inc. Railway; thence easterly along said parallel 
line a distance of 452.19 feet to said point of beginning. 
 
 
AND 
 
That portion of the West Half of Section 25, Township 38, Range 27, described as follows: 
Beginning at the point of intersection of the North-South centerline of said section 25 and the 
North right-of-way line of the former Burlington Northern Railway Right-of-Way now being the 
North line of Block 5 of Centennial Addition to Milaca; thence Southwesterly on and along said 
North Right-of-Way line of distance of 20.0 feet; thence northerly on and along a line parallel to 

2323



the East line of said Section 25 to the North line of that certain tract of land described in 
Warranty Deed filed as Document No. 214258; thence Northeasterly on and along said North 
line of tract described In Document No. 214258 to the North-South center line of said Section 
25; thence proceeding South on and along, said center line to the point of beginning  and there 
terminating. 
 
  
ALSO EXCEPT 
That part of Section 25, Township 38, Range 27, Mille Lacs County, Minnesota, described as 
follows: 
  
Commencing at the point of intersection of the North-South Quarter line of said Section 25 with 
the North right of way line of the former Burlington Northern Railway, now being the North line 
of Block 5, CENTENNIAL ADDITION TO MILACA, said Mille Lacs County, Minnesota; 
thence South 79 degrees 56 minutes 19 seconds West, assumed bearing along said North right of 
way line of the former Burlington Northern Railway, a distance of 20.00 feet to the point of 
beginning of the land to be described; thence North 79 degrees 56 minutes 19 seconds East, 
along said North right of way line of the former Burlington Northern Railway, a distance. of 
90.19 feet; thence North 08 degrees 58 minutes 12 seconds West, a distance of 220.50 feet; 
thence North 81 degrees 01 minutes 48  seconds East, a distance of 50.00 feet; thence South 50 
degrees 40 minutes 54 seconds East, a  distance of 50.00 feet; thence North 81 degrees 01 
minutes 48 seconds East, a distance of 131.45 feet; thence North 02 degrees 13 minutes 31 
seconds East, a distance of 60.00 feet; thence South 87 degrees 31 minutes 41 seconds East, a 
distance of 41.50 feet; thence North 02 degrees 28 minutes 19 seconds East, a distance of 30.00 
feet; thence South 87 degrees 31 minutes 41 seconds East, a distance of 35.00 feet; thence North 
23 degrees 31 minutes 31 seconds East, a distance of 290.91 feet; thence North 00 degrees 37 
minutes 08 seconds East, a distance of 164.41 feet; thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 26 
seconds West, a distance of 339.50 feet; thence South 46 degrees 23 minutes 45 seconds West, a 
distance of 156.63 feet to the intersection with said North-South Quarter line; thence South 00 
degrees 12 minutes 34 seconds West, along said North-South Quarter line to the intersection 
with the North line of the tract described in Document Number 214258; thence South 79 degrees 
56 minutes 19 seconds West, along said North line of the tract described in Document Number 
214258, a distance of 20.01 feet to the Intersection with a line drawn parallel with the East line 
of said Section 25 extended North from the point of beginning; thence South 00 degrees 12 
minutes 41 seconds East, parallel with said East line of Section 25, a distance of 284.70 feet to 
the point of beginning. 
 
 
 
 

 

2424



2525



2626



2727



2828



2929



3030



3131



3232



To: Milaca Planning Commission 

 

From: Evan Monson, AICP 

 

Project/File: 193800515 Date: September 25, 2025 

 

REQUEST: Minor Subdivision/Lot Split and Lot Size Variance request for 255 3rd Avenue SW 

APPLICANT: David Kuefler – D & K Milaca Rentals LLC 

OWNER: MLV Holdings, LLC 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 255 3rd Avenue SW; Parcel ID 21-042-0850 

ZONING CLASSIFICATION: B-2 General Business 

REVIEW PERIOD: 60-day review period (for the variance request) ends 11/18/2025. 120-day review period 
(for the minor subdivision/lot split request) ends 1/2/2026. 

ITEMS REVIEWED: Application and materials received by the city on 9/4/2025 (minor subdivision/lot split) 
and 9/19/2025 (variance). 

OVERVIEW 

The owners of the Milaca Park Apartments, located at 240 2nd Avenue SW, are interested in providing more 
parking for the residents of their apartment building. The building was built in 1979, per county records. The 
240 2nd Avenue SW site cannot accommodate additional off-street parking; as a result the property owner 
has approached their neighbor to the west, 255 3rd Avenue SW – Mille Lacs Vet Clinic, about acquiring 
some space to construct additional off-street parking on. The two property owners have determined that 
creation of a new lot would be the optimal way to do this. 

The applicant has prepared a survey showing the proposed lot that they would split off of the Vet Clinic 
parcel – Tract A would be the remaining Vet Clinic parcel, while Tract B would be the new off-street parking 
parcel for the Milaca Park Apartments. The proposed Tract B is 1,630 square feet (SF) in size. The Vet 
Clinic parcel is zoned B-2, so both tract A and B would also be zoned B-2. Per 156.039(C), the minimum lot 
size in the B-2 zone is 6,000 SF if a lot has sewer service or access to sewer; the proposed Tract B is 
below this requirement by 4,370 SF. As a result, the applicant is requesting a variance to allow for the 
creation of proposed Tract B at a size that is less than the minimum required under the B-2 zone. 

If both the variance and minor subdivision are approved, the applicant can then prepare plans and apply for 
a building permit to build the proposed off-street parking. Those plans would have to adhere to city 
requirements regarding drainage, surfacing, and screening. 

Variances from zoning requirements are covered in Sections 156.165 – 156.170 of the city code. Section 
156.168 requires review of variances by the city’s Planning Commission. The City Council can then 
approve or deny a variance request. Minor Subdivisions are covered under Section 155.126 of the city 
code. These requests can go directly to the City Council, or can be reviewed by the Planning Commission 
and approved or denied by the council.  

3333



PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Parcel Description: 255 3rd Avenue SW is 32,305 SF in size per the applicant’s survey. The west end of 
the site abuts 3rd Avenue SW / CR 32, while the south side abuts 3rd Street SW. An undeveloped alleyway 
runs along the north side of the lot, while a paved alleyway runs along the east side. The site slopes down 
from the NE corner towards the Veterinary Clinic building. The alleyway slopes down towards 3rd Street 
SW. The Milaca Park Apartments are located across the alleyway to the east, while a single-family home is 
located on a parcel next to 255 3rd Avenue SW. 

 

Figure 1: County GIS aerial image. Parcel lines are in red. 255 3rd Avenue SW is outlined in orange, 240 2nd Avenue 
SW is outlined in light red. 

Current Land Uses: Veterinary Clinic 

EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST 

Subdivision Code 
The request will create two lots. Section 155.126 of Milaca city code says that the resulting parcels cannot 
be in violation of Chapter 156, the city’s zoning code. The variances to the minimum lot size as required 
under the B-2 zone will have to be approved in order to approve the subdivision request. Granting the 
variance would also ensure that Section 155.067 of the subdivision code, which covers requirements for 
newly created lots, would be met. 
 
Variance 
The Milaca Zoning Code, in Sections 156.166 and 156.167, details findings of fact and conditions for 
granting variances. These standards closely follow State statute requirements. The city’s code 
requirements are listed on the following pages in italics, with staff findings and comments following. 
 

3434



 

Figure 2: Aerial of the site, with contours and elevations shown per Mille Lacs County. 255 3rd Avenue SW is outlined in 
orange. Proposed Tract B is shown in light blue. 

 

Figure 3: Excerpt from the applicant's survey. 

3535



Variance Findings, per Section 156.166 
In considering all requests for a variance or appeal, the Board of Adjustments and Appeals shall make a 
finding of fact as appropriate that the proposed action will not: 

(A)   Impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent property; 
    (B)   Unreasonably increase the congestion in the public right-of-way; 
    (C)   Increase the danger of fire or endanger the public safety; 
    (D)   Unreasonably diminish or impair established property values within the neighborhood; 
    (E)   Cause an unreasonable strain upon existing municipal facilities and services; 
    (F)   Be contrary in any way to the provisions and intent of the city’s growth management 
system/Comprehensive Plan; or 
    (G)   Have a negative direct and indirect fiscal impact upon the city, county, or school district, 
unless the proposed use is determined to be in the public interest. 
 
The proposed lot would be to provide additional parking for the Milaca Park Apartments located to the east, 
across the alleyway. The parking area will need to be reviewed by city staff to ensure applicable city codes 
are met, and that the design of the parking area will not negatively impact the alleyway (which is city right-
of-way) or neighboring properties. The variance will not negatively impact any of the above standards; 
therefore these criteria are met. 
 
Variance Conditions, per Section 156.167: 
 (A) (1)   The City Council, after receiving recommendations from the Planning Commission, may not permit 
as a variance any use that is not permitted under this chapter for property in the zone where the affected 
person’s land is located. 

 
The requested variance is for the size of the lot, not the use. Off-street parking is permitted on all lots in the 
city. This criterion is met. 

 
      (2)   A variance may be granted when it is demonstrated that this action will be in keeping with the spirit 
and intent of this chapter and when the property in question cannot be put to a reasonable use if used 
under conditions allowed by the official controls, the plight of the landowner is due to circumstances unique 
to his or her property and not created by the landowner, and the variance, if granted, will not alter the 
essential character of the locality. 
 
This criterion is met. The applicant’s proposed use of the new lot (tract B) would be for off-street parking, 
which is a reasonable use. The Vet Clinic would be permitted to construct parking in this area if they so 
choose. The applicant’s property (240 2nd Avenue SW) does not have room for additional parking. The 
applicant’s property, and all of the lots in this block, were platted and developed prior to the owner owning 
the property; the landowner did not create these issues. It is impossible to provide additional off-street 
parking on the 240 2nd Avenue SW property without removing the existing apartment building. The 
proposed tract B, being smaller than 6,000 SF in size will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
The site is on the edge of the city’s downtown, which has numerous lots of varying size and dimensions, 
with off-street parking abutting different lots and uses. 
 
(B)   Economic considerations alone shall not constitute an undue hardship if reasonable use for the 
property exists under the terms of the chapter. Undue hardship also includes, but is not limited to, 
inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. A non-economic hardship shall exist by 
reason of one or more of the following: 
      (1)   Narrowness, shallowness, or shape of a specific parcel of property or a lot existing and of record 
upon the effective date of this chapter; 
      (2)   Exceptional topographic or water conditions of a specific parcel of land or lot; or 
      (3)   Inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. 
 

3636



These criteria are met. The economic issue usually means that the applicant could meet the code by 
spending more money, which is not the case in this situation. [Note: the term “undue hardship” is from 
previous State statute before 2011 and has been replaced by the term “practical difficulties” in current 
statute on variances.]. Given the shape of the lot, and layout of existing development on the 255 3rd Avenue 
SW property, there is not enough room to create a new lot that meets the minimum lot size of 6,000 SF. 

 
(C)   A variance may be granted for the above reasons when the strict application of the provisions of this 
chapter would result in exceptional difficulties in developing the property in a legally permissible manner. 
The City Council may impose conditions in granting the variance to insure [sic] compliance and to protect 
adjacent properties. 
 
This criterion is met. There would be “exceptional difficulties” in creating a code compliant lot that is 6,000 
SF out of the 255 3rd Avenue SW parcel without removing existing parking and portions of the Vet Clinic 
facility; similar issues arise when trying to add off-street parking onto the applicant’s property of 240 2nd 
Avenue SW. The council can impose conditions on the future off-street parking that the applicant proposes 
on tract B to ensure that the use does not negatively impact the existing Vet Clinic facility, or the single-
family residence on the 240 3rd Street SW property to the south.  
 
(D)   A variance shall not allow any use which is not a permitted principal use, a permitted accessory use, or 
a permitted use requiring a conditional use permit. The only lawful variance is one which is usually called a 
“non-use variance,” and the use of the variance procedure does not authorize any kind of unlawful “spot 
zoning.” 
 
This is not a case of ‘spot zoning’ or a ‘use variance.’ The request meets this criterion. 

STAFF / AGENCY COMMENTS 

• City Staff 

o City Engineer comments: “Approval of the lot split does not include approval for 
construction of parking facilities on the new parcel. Parking lot design shall be completed 
by a licensed professional engineer. The design shall in include improvements that do not 
increase the amount of surface water runoff onto adjacent properties including the property 
at 240 3rd Ave SW.” 

ACTION 

The Planning Commission can do one of the following for each request: 

1. Recommend the City Council approve, with findings for approval and with/without conditions. 
2. Recommend the City Council deny, with findings for denial. 
3. Table the request for further review and/or study. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Variance 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend approval of the minimum lot size variance for 
David Kuefler – D & K Milaca Rentals LLC, on behalf of property owner MLV Holdings LLC, as depicted on 
the Certificate of Survey from O’Malley & Kron Land Surveyors, dated 8/21/2025, with the following findings 
of fact: 

1. The proposed lot would be to provide additional parking for the Milaca Park Apartments located to 
the east, across the alleyway. The parking area will need to be reviewed by city staff to ensure 
applicable city codes are met, and that the design of the parking area will not negatively impact the 

3737



alleyway (which is city right-of-way) or neighboring properties. The variance will not negatively 
impact any of the standards in Section 156.166. 

 
2. The requested variance is for the proposed size of the lot, not the use. Off-street parking is 

permitted on all lots in the city. 
 

3. The applicant’s proposed use of the new lot (tract B) would be for off-street parking, which is a 
reasonable use. The Vet Clinic would be permitted to construct parking in this area if they so 
choose. The applicant’s property (240 2nd Avenue SW) does not have room for additional parking. 
The applicant’s property, and all of the lots in this block, were platted and developed prior to the 
owner owning the property; these issues were not created by the landowner. It is impossible to 
provide additional off-street parking on the 240 2nd Avenue SW property without removing the 
existing apartment building. The proposed tract B, being smaller than 6,000 SF in size will not alter 
the essential character of the locality. The site is on the edge of the city’s downtown, which has 
numerous lots of varying size and dimensions, with off-street parking abutting different lots and 
uses. 

 
4. Economic considerations alone do not constitute an undue hardship in this case. The economic 

issue usually means that the applicant could meet the code by spending more money, which is not 
the case in this situation. Given the shape of the lot, and layout of existing development on the 255 
3rd Avenue SW property, there is not enough room to create a new lot that meets the minimum lot 
size of 6,000 SF. 

 
5. There would be “exceptional difficulties” in creating a code compliant lot that is 6,000 SF out of the 

255 3rd Avenue SW parcel without removing existing parking and portions of the Vet Clinic facility; 
similar issues arise when trying to add off-street parking onto the applicant’s property of 240 2nd 
Avenue SW. The council can impose conditions on the future off-street parking that the applicant 
proposes on tract B to ensure that the use does not negatively impact the existing Vet Clinic facility, 
or the single-family residence on the 240 3rd Street SW property to the south.  

 
6. This is not a case of ‘spot zoning’ or a ‘use variance.’ 

 
Staff would also recommend the following conditions of approval: 
 

1. The applicant shall split 255 3rd Avenue SW, in accordance with the certificate of survey dated 
8/21/2025 and submitted to the city for review with this request. 

a. The applicant’s proposed off-street parking on the proposed Tract B shall adhere to design 
requirements of the City Engineer to ensure that runoff onto adjacent properties does not 
increase. 

b. The applicant’s proposed off-street parking on the proposed Tract B shall be screened from 
the property to the south (240 3rd Avenue SW), in accordance with Section 156.078(D) of 
Milaca City Code. 

2. The applicant shall acquire all applicable permits and approvals for this request. 
3. The applicant shall pay any fees or escrows associated with this request. 

 
Minor Subdivision 
 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission recommend approval of the minor subdivision for David 
Kuefler – D & K Milaca Rentals LLC, on behalf of property owner MLV Holdings LLC, as depicted on the 
Certificate of Survey from O’Malley & Kron Land Surveyors, dated 8/21/2025, with the following findings of 
fact: 

3838



 
1. MLV Holdings LLC owns the property at 255 3rd Avenue SW, identified and described on the 

Certificate of Survey from O’Malley & Kron Land Surveyors, dated 8/21/2025. 
 

2. The applicant, on behalf of the property owner, has proposed a minor subdivision depicted on 
the above noted survey that creates a Tract A 30,675 square feet in size and a Tract B 1,630 
square feet in size. 

 
3. The proposed subdivision as submitted meets the criteria for approving a minor subdivision in 

the Milaca City Code, provided the variance from the minimum lot size requirement is also 
approved. 

 
Conditions for Approval: 
 

1. The applicant shall split 255 3rd Avenue SW, in accordance with the certificate of survey dated 
8/21/2025 and submitted to the city for review with this request. 
 

2. The minor subdivision is approved only if the accompanying minimum lot size variance is also 
approved. 

 
3. The applicant shall acquire all applicable permits and approvals for this request. 

 
4. The applicant shall pay any fees or escrows associated with this request. 

 
 

3939



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 25-XX 
 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A VARIANCE TO CREATE A LOT SMALLER THAN THE 
MINIMUM LOT SIZE 

 
 
WHEREAS, Mille Lacs Veterinary Holdings, LLC is requesting a variance for smaller lot than is 
required by City Ordinance per 156.039 located at 255 3rd Ave SW, legally described as; 

 
    See Exhibit “A” 
 
WHEREAS, City Ordinance 156.167 Variances states: The basic standard is that there are 
“practical difficulties” in meeting the ordinance and; 
 
The proposed use of the property is reasonable. i.e., it is an acceptable use of the property and 
not something out of the ordinary that might impact surrounding properties.  
 
There are circumstances unique to the property not created by the applicant. i.e., something in 
the property itself and not in the proposed action.  
 
The variance would not alter the essential character of the locality, i.e., it wouldn’t be 
dramatically out of place in terms of size, height, appearance, etc.  
 
Economic considerations alone are not justification for a variance, i.e., could the applicant spend 
more money and meet the code.  
 
A reasonable reading of these standards would conclude that the current request meets them all. 
The variance is justified. 
 
WHEREAS, the Milaca Planning Commission held a public meeting on October 6, 2025, to 
allow for public input regarding the variance request; and 
 
WHEREAS, on the basis of the public hearing, the Planning Commission hereby makes the 
following findings of fact: 
 
 

4040



 
 

Variance 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend approval of the minimum lot size 
variance for David Kuefler – D & K Milaca Rentals LLC, on behalf of property owner MLV 
Holdings LLC, as depicted on the Certificate of Survey from O’Malley & Kron Land Surveyors, 
dated 8/21/2025, with the following findings of fact: 
 

1. The proposed lot would be to provide additional parking for the Milaca Park Apartments 
located to the east, across the alleyway. The parking area will need to be reviewed by city 
staff to ensure applicable city codes are met, and that the design of the parking area will 
not negatively impact the alleyway (which is city right-of-way) or neighboring properties. 
The variance will not negatively impact any of the standards in Section 156.166. 

 
2. The requested variance is for the proposed size of the lot, not the use. Off-street parking 

is permitted on all lots in the city. 
 

3. The applicant’s proposed use of the new lot (tract B) would be for off-street parking, 
which is a reasonable use. The Vet Clinic would be permitted to construct parking in this 
area if they so choose. The applicant’s property (240 2nd Avenue SW) does not have 
room for additional parking. The applicant’s property, and all of the lots in this block, 
were platted and developed prior to the owner owning the property; these issues were not 
created by the landowner. It is impossible to provide additional off-street parking on the 
240 2nd Avenue SW property without removing the existing apartment building. The 
proposed tract B, being smaller than 6,000 SF in size will not alter the essential character 
of the locality. The site is on the edge of the city’s downtown, which has numerous lots 
of varying size and dimensions, with off-street parking abutting different lots and uses. 

 
4. Economic considerations alone do not constitute an undue hardship in this case. The 

economic issue usually means that the applicant could meet the code by spending more 
money, which is not the case in this situation. Given the shape of the lot, and layout of 
existing development on the 255 3rd Avenue SW property, there is not enough room to 
create a new lot that meets the minimum lot size of 6,000 SF. 

 
5. There would be “exceptional difficulties” in creating a code compliant lot that is 6,000 

SF out of the 255 3rd Avenue SW parcel without removing existing parking and portions 
of the Vet Clinic facility; similar issues arise when trying to add off-street parking onto 
the applicant’s property of 240 2nd Avenue SW. The council can impose conditions on 
the future off-street parking that the applicant proposes on tract B to ensure that the use 
does not negatively impact the existing Vet Clinic facility, or the single-family residence 
on the 240 3rd Street SW property to the south.  

 
6. This is not a case of ‘spot zoning’ or a ‘use variance.’ 

 

4141



 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 
Staff would also recommend the following conditions of approval: 
 

1. The applicant shall split 255 3rd Avenue SW, in accordance with the certificate of survey 
dated 8/21/2025 and submitted to the city for review with this request. 

a. The applicant’s proposed off-street parking on the proposed Tract B shall adhere 
to design requirements of the City Engineer to ensure that runoff onto adjacent 
properties does not increase. 

b. The applicant’s proposed off-street parking on the proposed Tract B shall be 
screened from the property to the south (240 3rd Avenue SW), in accordance with 
Section 156.078(D) of Milaca City Code. 

2. The applicant shall acquire all applicable permits and approvals for this request. 
3. The applicant shall pay any fees or escrows associated with this request. 

 
 
WHEREAS, The Planning Commission recommends that the City Council approve the variance 
request as submitted, with the Findings of Fact in the Planner’s report of 09-25-25. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Milaca City Council, based on the above-
findings of fact, hereby grants the variance to allow a lot to be less than the required 6,000 
square feet located at 255 3rd Ave SW.  
 
 
Adopted this _______ day of ______________, 2025. 
 
 
 
      _________________________________ 
      Mayor Dave Dillan 
ATTEST 
 
 
 
__________________________________  
Tammy Pfaff, City Manager 
 
 

THIS INSTRUMENT DRAFTED BY TAMMY PFAFF, 
CITY OF MILACA CITY MANAGER, 255 1ST ST E, 
MILACA MN 56353. 
 
 
 
 
 

4242



 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  

 
 
(EXISTING LEGAL DESCRIPTION PER DOC. NO. 155883) 
That part of the Southwest Quarter of Southwest Quarter (SW l/4 of SW l/4) of Section Twenty 
five (25), Township Thirty-eight (38), Range Twenty-seven (27), and the Second Addition to the 
Village of Milaca, described as follows: Commencing at the southwest corner of Lot Eleven 
(11), Block Seventeen (17), Second Addition to the Village of Milaca, thence westerly along the 
south line of said Lot 11 extended a distance of 156.57 feet; thence deflecting to the right interior 
angle 78 degrees 07 minutes 00 seconds and along the easterly right of way line of the old 
Milaca to Foreston road a distance of 202.33 feet; thence easterly along the north line of Lot 10, 
Block 17, Second Addition to the Village of Milaca, extended, a distance of 181.77 feet to the 
northeast corner of said Lot 10; thence southerly along said easterly line of said Lot 10 a distance 
of 80.00 feet to the southeast corner thereof; thence westerly along the south line of said Lot 10, 
a distance of 66.00 feet; thence southerly on a line parallel to the easterly line of Lot 11 a  
distance of 118.00 feet to the point of beginning and there terminating. 
 
 
TRACT A 
That part of the Southwest Quarter of Southwest Quarter (SW l/4 of SW l/4) of Section Twenty 
five (25), Township Thirty-eight (38), Range Twenty-seven (27), and the Second Addition to the 
Village of Milaca, described as follows: Commencing at the southwest corner of Lot Eleven 
(11), Block Seventeen (17), Second Addition to the Village of Milaca, thence westerly along the 
south line of said Lot 11 extended a distance of 156.57 feet; thence deflecting to the right interior 
angle 78 degrees 07 minutes 00 seconds and along the easterly right of way line of the old 
Milaca to Foreston road a distance of 202.33 feet; thence easterly along the north line of Lot 10, 
Block 17, Second Addition to the Village of Milaca, extended, a distance of 181.77 feet to the 
northeast corner of said Lot 10; thence southerly along said easterly line of said Lot 10 a distance 
of 80.00 feet to the southeast corner thereof; thence westerly along the south line of said Lot 10, 
a distance of 66.00 feet; thence southerly on a line parallel to the easterly line of Lot 11 a  
distance of 118.00 feet to the point of beginning and there terminating. 
 
LESS AND EXCEPT 
That part of Lot 10, Block 17, SECOND ADDITION TO THE VILLAGE OF MILACA, 
according to the recorded plat thereof, Mille Lacs County, Minnesota, described as follows:  
Beginning at the southeast corner of said Lot 10; thence South 79 degrees 24 minutes 36 seconds  
West, assumed bearing, along the southerly line of said Lot 10, a distance of 29.00 feet; thence  
North 09 degrees 41 minutes 45 seconds West, 56.31 feet: thence North 79 degrees 45 minutes 
56 seconds East, 29.00 feet, to the easterly line of said Lot 10; thence South 09 degrees 41  

4343



 
 
minutes 45 seconds East, along said easterly line of Lot 10, a distance of 56.13 feet, to the point 
of beginning. 
 
 
TRACT B 
That part of Lot 10, Block 17, SECOND ADDITION TO THE VILLAGE OF MILACA, 
according to the recorded plat thereof, Mille Lacs County, Minnesota, described as follows:  
Beginning at the southeast corner of said Lot 10; thence South 79 degrees 24 minutes 36 seconds  
West, assumed bearing, along the southerly line of said Lot 10, a distance of 29.00 feet; thence  
North 09 degrees 41 minutes 45 seconds West, 56.31 feet: thence North 79 degrees 45 minutes 
56 seconds East, 29.00 feet, to the easterly line of said Lot 10; thence South 09 degrees 41 
minutes 45 seconds East, along said easterly line of Lot 10, a distance of 56.13 feet, to the  
point of beginning. 

4444




